RECEIVED

Dec 01 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT
The Honorable Ralph King Anderson, III, Chief Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-000219
Administrative Law Court Case No. 18-ALJ-0443-CC

Colonial Pipeline CompanyRespondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue, Abbeville County, Anderson County,
Greenville County, Aiken County, Laurens County, and York County Appellants.

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS
AIKEN COUNTY AND LAURENS COUNTY**

Walter H. Cartin, SC Bar #78405
J. Evan Phillips, SC Bar #103679
PARKER POE ADAMS & BERNSTEIN LLP
P.O. Box 1509 (29202)
1221 Main Street, Suite 1100

INTRODUCTION

This case is about whether certain assets of Colonial Pipeline Company (“Colonial”)—a transportation company—qualify as facilities or equipment of “industrial plants” and are, thus, eligible to receive a property tax exemption pursuant to section 12-37-220(A)(8) of the South Carolina Code (the “Exemption”). The Exemption grants a property tax exemption to certain assets when those assets are (1) considered “facilities or equipment of **‘industrial plants,’**” (2) for the purposes of controlling pollution, (3) required by federal or state law, and (4) used in the conduct of the taxpayer’s business. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-220(A)(8) (emphasis added).

The primary disputed issue in this case is whether a transportation company’s underground pipeline constitutes an “industrial plant,” as that phrase is used in the Exemption. South Carolina law is clear that all property is presumed taxable and that the terms of a tax exemption statute must be strictly construed against the claimed exemption. However, the Administrative Law Court (“ALC”) construed the term “industrial plant” so broadly that almost every single business enterprise operating within this State qualifies as an “industrial plant.” The ALC’s decision to assign such a broad, liberal construction to the meaning of terms in a tax exemption statute is reversible error under South Carolina law. Therefore, the ALC’s findings that Colonial’s pipeline infrastructure constitutes an “industrial plant” and that Colonial’s property was exempt from taxation pursuant to the Exemption for tax years 2017 and 2018 must be reversed.

Additionally, even if the threshold requirement that Colonial’s property is part of an “industrial plant” had been established (which it was not in this case), then it still remains necessary to determine the exact value—if any—of the property that is eligible for the Exemption. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-220(A)(8). To make this determination, section 12-37-220(A)(8) contains a provision that limits the value of property eligible for the Exemption to the difference in the cost between the property at issue and property that has similar production capability without the ability

to control pollution (hereinafter referred to as the “dual purpose provision”). In other words, if there is no difference in the cost of a piece of property that is capable of controlling pollution and the cost of a similar piece of property that is not capable of controlling pollution, then no amount of the property is eligible to receive the Exemption.

When the ALC first applied the dual purpose provision, it properly recognized that section 12-37-220(A)(8) provides a tax exemption for only the value associated with a piece of property’s pollution control function.¹ Then, after a hearing on the parties’ respective Motions for Reconsideration, the ALC changed its decision on this issue. In the Amended Final Order, the ALC found that the dual purpose provision actually did not apply in this case—not to Colonial’s pipeline coatings, cathodic protection equipment, or its automatic shut-off valve—because the “equipment at issue is not used to produce a product.” (Amended Final Order 31 (Feb. 9, 2021) (hereinafter “Am. Order”); R. 0111).

Even though it was not necessary for the ALC to apply the dual purpose provision because Colonial’s pipeline infrastructure does not constitute an “industrial plant,” the ALC erred by finding that the dual purpose provision applies only to the property of *some* eligible companies, but not all companies that otherwise qualify for the Exemption. Additionally, the Record shows that there is absolutely *no* cost differential between Colonial’s property at issue in this case and similar property that does not have the ability to control the pollution. Therefore, even if Colonial’s pipeline infrastructure could be considered an “industrial plant,” then there still is no value of Colonial’s property that is eligible for the Exemption.

¹ For instance, with respect to Colonial’s pipeline coatings, the ALC found that the pipeline coatings were ineligible for the Exemption because there was no cost differential between the pipeline coatings Colonial used in its business operations and the same or similar pipelines that did not contain coatings and, thus, did not contain the ability to control pollution. (Final Order 30–32 (Dec. 1, 2020) (hereinafter “Order”); R. 0076–0078).

Finally, the ALC erred by finding that Colonial established that its property was pollution control property even though the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control (“DHEC”) failed to determine the issue. Although the South Carolina Department of Revenue (the “Department”) was not required to ask DHEC to make this determination, once the Department did make this request, section 12-37-220(A)(8) mandated that DHEC (1) investigate Colonial’s property and (2) provide the Department with a detailed listing of Colonial’s property that was pollution control property. After investigating Colonial’s property, DHEC declined to issue the determination it is required by statute to render. Colonial’s failure to subsequently request or demand that DHEC issue a determination was a failure to establish that the relevant property was pollution control property.

For these reasons, and as explained more fully below, the ALC erred (1) when it failed to strictly construe the term “industrial plant”; (2) when it failed to apply the dual purpose provision to a company’s property after determining that company qualified for the Exemption; and (3) when it found that Colonial established that its property qualified as pollution control property even though DHEC failed to determine the issue. Therefore, the ALC’s decision that Colonial’s property is eligible for the Exemption for tax years 2017 and 2018 was in error and must be reversed.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **DID THE ALC ERR WHEN IT FOUND THAT COLONIAL’S INFRASTRUCTURE QUALIFIES AS AN “INDUSTRIAL PLANT” UNDER SECTION 12-37-220(A)(8) EVEN THOUGH COLONIAL DOES NOT ENGAGE IN ANY MANUFACTURING OR PRODUCTION ACTIVITIES?**
- II. **DID THE ALC ERR WHEN IT FOUND THAT SECTION 12-37-220(A)(8)’S DUAL PURPOSE PROVISION APPLIES ONLY TO SOME COMPANIES THAT ARE ELIGIBLE TO RECEIVE THE EXEMPTION?**
- III. **DID THE ALC ERR WHEN IT FOUND THAT COLONIAL ESTABLISHED THAT ITS PROPERTY QUALIFIED AS POLLUTION CONTROL PROPERTY WHEN DHEC FAILED TO DETERMINE THE ISSUE?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 19, 2017, the Department’s Government Services Division received from Colonial an application for a property tax exemption for certain Colonial assets pursuant to the Exemption. (Joint Exhibit 20 ¶ 15 (hereinafter “Stip. of Facts”); R. 1992). In Colonial’s 2017 application, Colonial sought the Exemption for its pipeline coatings, cathodic protection equipment, and automatic shut-off valve.² (Stip. of Facts ¶ 15; R. 1992). On August 15, 2017, the Department’s Government Services Division issued a Property Assessment Notice for property

² Colonial also sought the Exemption for its wastewater pollution control equipment, storm water pollution control equipment, secondary containment equipment, and tank internal/external floating roofs for tax years 2017 and 2018; these assets are not at issue in this case. (Stip. of Facts ¶¶ 15 & 22; R. 1992 & 1993). Although the Department initially found that these assets qualified for the Exemption, the Department admitted that it did not ever consider whether Colonial’s operations constituted an “industrial plant” in accordance with the Exemption. (Am. Order 14, n. 11; R. 0094). Accordingly, the Department attempted to correct this initial mistake and clarify its position that none of Colonial’s property qualified for the Exemption because Colonial’s operations do not constitute an “industrial plant” in its Second Amended Prehearing Statement. (Sec. Am. Prehearing Stmtnt 4–5 (filed Sept. 4, 2019); R. 0181–82). However, the ALC denied the Department’s amendment request and declined to consider whether these other Colonial assets qualified for the Exemption on the basis that this case was limited to the items originally denied by the Department (i.e., pipeline coatings, cathodic protection equipment, and automatic shut-off valve). (*See* Order Denying Motion to Amend Prehearing Statement; R. 0030; *see also* Dept.’s Mot. Alter Am. Order May 20, 2020 4–5 (filed June 1, 2020); R. 0696–97).

tax year 2017 denying Colonial’s exemption application as to the pipeline coatings, cathodic protection equipment, and automatic shut-off valve. (Stip. of Facts ¶ 16; R. 2463).

On September 7, 2017, Colonial protested the proposed assessment for 2017. (Stip. of Facts ¶ 17; R. 2463). On September 20, 2017, the Department’s Government Services Division notified the County auditors of Colonial’s appeal of the 2017 assessment. (Stip. of Facts ¶ 18; R. 2463).

On October 19, 2017, the Department’s Government Services Division forwarded the 2017 exemption application to DHEC for investigation into whether Colonial’s claimed property—specifically, the pipeline coatings, cathodic protection equipment, and automatic shut-off valve—qualified for the Exemption pursuant to section 12-37-220(A)(8). (Stip. of Facts ¶ 19; R. 2464). On December 18, 2017, DHEC submitted a letter to the Department responding to the Department’s request that DHEC investigate the applicable property, in which DHEC informed the Department that federal agencies—like the United States Department of Transportation (“USDOT”)—regulate pipelines. (Stip. of Facts ¶ 20; R. 2464). DHEC also informed the Department it lacked any authority to permit, inspect, or enforce pipeline operations. (Stip. of Facts ¶ 20; R. 2464).

On or around April 11, 2018, the Department’s Government Services Division forwarded Colonial’s 2017 exemption application file to the Department’s Office of General Counsel for Litigation for further analysis as to whether Colonial’s pipeline coatings, cathodic protection equipment, and automatic shut-off valve qualified for the Exemption. (Stip. of Facts ¶ 21; R. 2464).

On April 23, 2018, the Department’s Government Services Division received from Colonial another application for the Exemption for tax year 2018. (Stip. of Facts ¶ 22; R. 2464). Colonial sought the pollution control exemption for tax year 2018 on the same property as its 2017 exemption application. (Stip. of Facts ¶ 22; R. 2464). On April 26, 2018, the Department’s Office of General Counsel requested that DHEC investigate Colonial’s property to determine the portion

of the property that qualifies for the Exemption and furnish the Department with a detailed listing of the property that was pollution control property. (Stip. of Facts ¶ 23; R. 2464).

On July 27, 2018, the Department's Government Services Division issued a Property Assessment Notice for tax year 2018 denying Colonial's exemption application as to its pipeline coatings, cathodic protection equipment, and automatic shut-off valve. (Stip. of Facts ¶ 24; R. 2464). Colonial protested the proposed assessment for property tax year 2018 to the Department's Government Services Division by written correspondence postmarked August 13, 2018. (Stip. of Facts ¶ 25; R. 2464).

On August 14, 2018, the Department's Office of General Counsel forwarded Colonial's 2018 exemption application to DHEC and, again, requested that DHEC investigate Colonial's property to determine whether Colonial's property was pollution control property. (Stip. of Facts ¶ 26; R. 2464). In response, DHEC submitted a letter dated August 27, 2018, to the Department's Office of General Counsel and, again, noted that federal agencies like USDOT regulate pipelines, and that DHEC lacks authority to permit, inspect, or enforce pipeline operations. (Stip. of Facts ¶ 27; R. 2464–65).

On November 19, 2019, the Department issued a department determination denying Colonial's exemption applications for tax years 2017 and 2018. (Stip. of Facts ¶ 28; R. 2465). On December 5, 2018, Colonial commenced this proceeding by filing a request for a contested case hearing with the ALC. (*See* Req. Contested Case Hr'g (Dec. 5, 2018); R. 0113; Stip. of Facts ¶ 29; R. 2465). In its request for a contested case hearing, Colonial challenged the Department's decision that certain Colonial assets were *not* eligible for a property tax exemption for pollution control equipment pursuant to section 12-37-220(A)(8) of the South Carolina Code and Article 10, Section 3(h) of the South Carolina Constitution. (*See id.*; R. 0114). Colonial specifically challenged the Department's decision for tax years 2017 and 2018. (*Id.*; R. 0114).

On March 20, 2019, Abbeville County and Anderson County filed a Consolidated Motion to Intervene, which was granted by the ALC on April 16, 2019. (*See* Consol. Mot. Interv. (Mar. 20, 2019); R. 0136; Order Granting Consol. Mot. Intervene (Apr. 16, 2019); R. 0001). Greenville County filed a Motion to Intervene on May 17, 2019, which was granted by the ALC on May 29, 2019. (*See* Greenville Cty. Mot. Intervene (May 17, 2019); R. 0141; Order Granting Mot. Intervene (May 29, 2019); R. 0003). Aiken County and Laurens County filed a Motion to Intervene on May 28, 2019. (*See* Aiken Cty. & Laurens Cty. Mot. Intervene (May 28, 2019); R. 0146). York County also filed a Motion to Intervene on May 28, 2019. (*See* York Cty. Mot. Intervene (May 28, 2018); R. 0152). The ALC granted Aiken County’s, Laurens County’s, and York County’s Motions to Intervene on June 13, 2019. (*See* Order Granting Mot. Intervene (June 13, 2019); R. 0005). Collectively, the referenced counties are the “Counties.”

On December 11, 2019, the parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment on the issue of whether, as a matter of law, Colonial’s infrastructure constituted an “industrial plant” for purposes of the Exemption. (*See* Colonial’s Mot. Summ. J. (Dec. 11, 2019); R. 0242; Department’s Mot. Summ. J. (Dec. 11, 2019); R. 0305; Aiken Cty. & Laurens Cty. Mot. Summ. J. (Dec. 11, 2019); R. 0186). A hearing on the parties’ cross-motions for summary judgment was held on January 6, 2020. On March 6, 2020, the ALC filed its Order on Motions for Summary Judgment, denying all parties’ motions. (*See* Order Mots. Summ. J. (Mar. 6, 2020); R. 0007).

A contested case hearing on the merits was held before the ALC on August 4–5, 2020. The ALC issued a Final Order on December 1, 2020, in which the ALC concluded that Colonial qualified for the Exemption, but it was not entitled to the Exemption for all of the disputed assets. (*See* Order 32–33; R. 0078-79). Pertinent to the issues on appeal, the ALC originally found that (1) Colonial’s disputed equipment were “facilities and equipment of an industrial plant,” but that (2) certain pieces of equipment were not eligible for the Exemption under section 12-37-

220(A)(8)'s dual purpose provision because there was no "calculable value differential" for the same property without the ability to control pollution. (*See* Order at 32 (R. 0078).

Following the ALC's December 1, 2020 Final Order, all parties filed a Motion for Reconsideration ("Motions"). (*See* Mots. Reconsid.; R. 0710, 0721, 0756, & 0824). On January 20, 2021, a hearing on the parties' respective Motions was held. On February 9, 2021, the ALC issued its Amended Final Order, in which the ALC concluded that (1) Colonial's disputed equipment constituted "facilities and equipment of an industrial plant," and (2) section 12-37-220(A)(8)'s dual purpose provision was inapplicable because Colonial's equipment is not used for production. (*See* Am. Order 31; R. 0111). In other words, the ALC originally determined that only certain disputed Colonial assets were eligible for the Exemption; then, the ALC subsequently found that *all* of Colonial's disputed assets were eligible for the Exemption for tax years 2017 and 2018. (*Compare* Order 32; R. 0078; *with* Am. Order 31; R. 0111). In response to the Amended Final Order, the Counties³ and the Department each timely filed a notice of appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. Overview of Colonial's Operations and Infrastructure.

Colonial is a pipeline company that first established its pipeline in South Carolina in 1962. (Tr. 90:25, 91:9–10, 96:17–20, 184:21–23, 187:12–15, & 230:10–11; R. 1531, 1532, 1537, 1625, 1628, & 1671). First and foremost, Colonial is a transportation company. (Tr. 44: 23–25; R. 1485). All of Colonial's South Carolina property is assessed at the transportation company ratio of 9.5%. (Tr. 51:7–19; R. 1492). Colonial does not make any products in South Carolina. (Tr. 45:4–6; R.

³ Although all the Counties were intervenors in this case, the Counties are separately represented and filed individual notices of appeal. Aiken County and Laurens County are both represented by Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein LLP. Abbeville County, Anderson County, Greenville County, and York County (collectively, the "Other Counties") are represented by Kozlarek Law LLC.

1486; *see also* Am. Order 31; R. 0111 (“[A]ll parties agree Colonial is not engaged in production.”)).

Colonial transports refined petroleum, jet fuel, gasoline, diesel, heating oil, kerosene, and blend stocks (collectively, “refined petroleum products,” and each, a “refined petroleum product”) for its customers. (Stip. of Facts ¶ 1; R. 2462). In South Carolina, Colonial ships ultra-low sulfur diesel, heating oil, marine diesel, jet fuel, and kerosene. (Tr. 95:22–96:7; R. 1536–37). Colonial’s main competitors—both nationally and in South Carolina—are transportation companies that move refined petroleum products through other means, such as trucks, railroads, and barges. (Tr. 94:4–10; R. 1535).

Colonial’s South Carolina infrastructure consists of 515 miles of pipeline, two tank farms, three main line booster stations, and one delivery facility spanning eleven counties in the State. (Tr. 98:19–99:22; R. 1539–40). Because Colonial has over 515 miles of pipeline, its infrastructure traverses miles and miles of real property. The overwhelming majority of Colonial’s pipeline is laid over agriculturally zoned property. (Tr. 55:14–17; R. 1496; Joint Ex. 14; R. 1916). Only a very small portion of the pipeline is zoned over property that is classified as industrial property. (Tr. 55:18–21; R. 1496).

Although Colonial provides other, ancillary services, Colonial primarily gets paid “for transporting barrels [of refined petroleum products] from point A to point B.” (Tr. 95:7–20; R. 1536). Colonial does not refine any petroleum products; rather, Colonial receives petroleum products—after they have been refined—from approximately 30 refineries in the Gulf Coast region of the United States that it transports for its customers. (Tr. 121:1–14; R. 1562). Approximately 250 customers ship products through Colonial’s pipelines. (Tr. 121:17–23; R. 1562). All of these customers are required to have title to the product as it travels through

Colonial's pipelines. (Tr. 123:1-4; R. 1564). At no point in time does Colonial own the refined petroleum products that it ships. (Tr. 93:17-20; R. 1534).

All of Colonial's pipelines are buried between four and five feet below ground. (Tr. 103:1-16; R. 1544). Thus, an observer on the ground would not be able to see the pipeline itself, although pipeline markers would be visible at certain levels. (Tr. 169:1-13; R. 1610). Two main Colonial pipelines run through South Carolina: Line 1 and Line 2. (Tr. 97:1-7; R. 1538). Line 1 and Line 2 run from Pasadena, Texas, to Greensboro, North Carolina. (Tr. 101:20-21; R. 1542). The South Carolina portions of Line 1 and Line 2 are each about 101 miles long. (Tr. 98:21-25; R. 1539). Line 1 transports gasoline, and Line 2 transports distillate, which includes jet fuel and ultra-low sulfur diesel. (Tr. 97:20-98:5; R. 1538-39). Line 1 was built in 1962. Line 2 was built in the late 1970s, but became operational in the 1980s. (Tr. 96:13-20; R. 1537).

Colonial also owns Line 29, which is a multi-products line that originates in Belton, South Carolina. (Tr. 98:11-18; R. 1539). Line 29 is approximately 75 miles long. Line 29 carries all of the refined petroleum products, with the exception of heating oil. Colonial transports between 180,000 to 185,000 barrels of refined petroleum products each day through the South Carolina portion of its pipeline. (Tr. 102:14-22; R. 1543). It also has a number of delivery lines, which run directly to truck terminals. (Tr. 99:6-7; R. 1540).

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