**RECEIVED**

**Nov 16 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

The Honorable Ralph King Anderson, III, Chief Administrative Law Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2021-000219  
Administrative Law Court Case No. 18-ALJ-0443-CC

---

Colonial Pipeline Company .....Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue, Abbeville County, Anderson County, Greenville  
County, Aiken County, Laurens County, and York County .....Appellants.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Burnet R. Maybank, III  
Jim Rourke  
NEXSEN PRUET, LLC  
1230 Main Street, Suite 700 (29201)  
Post Office Drawer 2426

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR BY GRANTING A POLLUTION CONTROL EXEMPTION FOR FACILITIES AND EQUIPMENT OF AN INDUSTRIAL PLANT TO A TRANSPORTATION COMPANY WITH 515 MILES OF PIPELINES, TWO TANK FARMS WITH 44 TANKS, A DELIVERY FACILITY, 32 FULL TIME EMPLOYEES, WHICH PUMPS THROUGH THREE MAIN LINE BOOSTER STATIONS 185,000 BARRELS OF GASOLINE, DIESEL, JET FUEL AND KEROSENE PER DAY THROUGH SOUTH CAROLINA?

II. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR BY NOT DISCOUNTING THE POLLUTION CONTROL EXEMPTION BASED ON THE DUAL PURPOSE PROVISIONS SOLELY APPLICABLE TO MANUFACTURERS?

III. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR BY LIMITING THE SCOPE OF THE CONTESTED CASE HEARING TO THE THREE TYPES OF POLLUTION CONTROL EQUIPMENT IDENTIFIED IN THE PROPOSED ASSESSMENT AND DEPARTMENT DETERMINATION?

IV. DID THE ALC ERR IN FINDING THAT COLONIAL ESTABLISHED THAT ITS PROPERTY QUALIFIED AS POLLUTION CONTROL PROPERTY WHEN DHEC SO DETERMINED?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The matter arises from Colonial Pipeline Company's ("Colonial") challenging the South Carolina Department of Revenue's ("DOR" or "Department") determination that Colonial is not entitled to a property tax exemption for three types of pollution control devices for the tax years 2017 and 2018. Colonial in 2017 sought a determination that its pipe coatings, cathodic protection, and automatic shut-off valves are exempt from property tax under the pollution control exemption (S.C. Const. Art. X, § 3(h) and S.C. Code Ann. § 12-37-220(A)(8), collectively, "Exemption"). The constitutional provision exempts from property tax "all facilities of *industrial plants* which are designed for the elimination, mitigation, prevention, treatment, abatement, or control of water, air or noise pollution." S. C. Const. Art X, § 3(h) (emphasis added). Section 12-37-220(A)(8) exempts "[a]ll facilities or equipment of *industrial plants* which are designed for the elimination, mitigation, prevention, treatment, abatement, or control of water, air or noise pollution, both internal and external, required by the state or federal government and used in the conduct of their business." § 12-37-220(A)(8) (emphasis added). Neither the constitutional provisions nor the statute defines "industrial plant."

DOR submitted Colonial's 2018 exemption application to the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control ("DHEC") for investigation into whether the pipeline enhancements identified by Colonial qualified as pollution control equipment. DHEC replied to DOR on August 27, 2018, stating that the enhancements did qualify as pollution control equipment.

On November 19, 2018, DOR determined that Colonial is not entitled to the Exemption for the pipe coatings, cathodic protection, and automatic shut-off valves because the property claimed by Colonial is not "facilities or equipment of an industrial plant." Colonial subsequently claimed

the same pipeline enhancements as pollution control property for 2019 and again requested the Exemption. DOR also denied this application.

On December 5, 2018, Colonial requested the Administrative Law Court (“ALC”) hold a contested case hearing to challenge this determination by DOR. Colonial argued that its industrial facility is an “industrial plant.” On March 29, 2019, Appellants Abbeville County and Anderson County moved to intervene in the ALC case. Greenville County and York County with Abbeville County and Anderson County later moved to intervene in the case as well. Counties’ motions to intervene were granted. Appellants Aiken County and Laurens County moved separately to intervene in the case of May 28. Aiken County and Laurens County motions to intervene were also granted. These counties are collectively designated as “Counties.”

All parties filed motions for summary judgment on the applicability of the Exemption in December 2019. On March 6, 2020, the ALC denied all parties’ summary judgment motions, finding that fact issues existed that precluded summary judgment for any party.

A hearing on the merits was held before the ALC on August 4 and 5, 2020 before Chief Administrative Law Judge Ralph King Anderson, III. The ALC issued a Final Order on December 1, 2020. R. p. 0047. Subsequently, Colonial, Counties and the Department timely filed Motions for Reconsideration. In response to the issues raised in the Motions for Reconsideration, the ALC rescinded its original Final Order on January 4, 2021, and issued an Amended Final Order on February 9, 2021. R. p. 0081. The ALC found in its Amended Final Order that the pipeline components in dispute are (1) facilities and equipment of an industrial plant; (2) designed for the elimination, mitigation, prevention, treatment, abatement, or control of water, air, or noise pollution; (3) required by state and federal government; and (4) used in the conduct of Colonial’s

business. Therefore, the ALC determined that the pipe coatings, cathodic protection, and automatic shut-off valves met the qualifications to receive the pollution control equipment exemption.

In response to the Amended Final Order, Counties and DOR timely filed notices of appeal.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

### A. General

The Administrative Procedures Act establishes the standard of review for the Court of Appeals for cases decided by the ALC and is set forth in § 1-23-610(B), which provides:

The review of the administrative law judge’s order must be confined to the record. The court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the administrative law judge as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. The court of appeals may affirm the decision or remand the case for further proceedings; or, it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

(a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;

\* \* \* \* \*

(d) affected by other error of law;

(e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or

(f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

“A decision of the ALC should be upheld, therefore, if it is supported by substantial evidence in the record.” S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B); *Risher v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’tl. Control*, 393 S.C. 198, 203-04, 712 S.E.2d 428, 431 (2011). “When the evidence conflicts on an issue, the court’s substantial evidence standard of review defers to the findings of the factfinder.” *A.O. Smith Corp. vs. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’tl. Control*, 428 S.C. 189, 200 833 S.E.2d 451, 457 (Ct. App. 2019).

A reviewing court may reverse or modify an administrative decision if the findings of fact are not supported by substantial evidence. “Substantial evidence is ‘evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion that the administrative agency

reached.” “[T]he possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent an administrative agency’s finding from being supported by substantial evidence.”

*Risher*, 393 S.C. at 210, 712 S.E.2d at 434 (citations omitted).

“In determining whether the ALC’s decision was supported by substantial evidence, the Court need only find, looking at the entire record on appeal, evidence from which reasonable minds could reach the same conclusion as the ALC. *Hill v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Envtl. Control*, 389 S.C. 1, 9-10, 698 S.E.2d 612, 617 (2010). However, the Court may only reverse the decision of the ALC where it is in violation of a statutory provision or it is affected by an error of law. *Alltel Commc’ns, Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 399 S.C. 313, 316, 731 S.E.2d 869, 870-71 (2012).” *Kiawah Dev. Partners, II v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Envtl. Control*, 411 S.C. 16, 28, 766 S.E.2d 707, 715 (2014); *Olson v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Envtl. Control*, 379 S.C. 57, 63, 663 S.E.2d 497, 500-01 (Ct. App. 2008).

## **B. Standard of Review for Tax Exemption Statutes**

As the Court of Appeals recently stated in *Cromey v. S.C. Department of Revenue*, \_\_\_ S.C. \_\_\_, \_\_\_ S.E. 2d \_\_\_ (Op. No. 5842, Aug. 4, 2021) (*available at* 2021 WL 3377568):

Although our supreme court has expressed a policy of strictly construing tax exemption statutes against the taxpayer, “[t]his rule of strict construction simply means that constitutional and statutory language will not be strained or liberally construed in the taxpayer’s favor.” *CFRE, LLC v. Greenville Cty. Assessor*, 395 S.C. 67, 74, 716 S.E. 2d 877, 881 (2011) (quoting *Se. Kusan, Inc. v. S.C. Tax Comm’n*, 276, S.C. 487, 489, 380 S.E. 2d 57, 58 (1981)). “It does not mean that [the appellate court] will search for an interpretation in [the Department]’s favor where the plain and unambiguous language leaves no room for construction.” *Id.* at 74-75, 716 S.E. 2d at 881.

## FACTS

### A. Stipulations of Facts

The parties stipulated to a number of facts at the hearing. These are quoted in Abbeville County's Brief of Appellant at pp. 10-15 (hereinafter "Stipulations").

### B. Colonial's Pipeline Operations and Practices

The following pertinent facts are undisputed. Colonial is a pipeline company that transports refined petroleum, jet fuel, gasoline, diesel, heating oil, and kerosene (collectively, "Refined Petroleum Products"). Tr. p. 95, line 22-p. 96, line 7; R. p. 1536. It receives products from approximately thirty refineries in the Gulf Coast region of the United States and has approximately 250 customers who ship through its lines. ALC Amended Final Order, Findings of Fact (hereinafter "Findings of Fact") at pp. 5-6; Tr. 121: 1-19; R. pp. 0085-86, 1562. In South Carolina, Colonial ships gasoline, ultra-low sulfur diesel, heating oil, marine diesel, jet fuel, and kerosene. Ultra-low sulfur diesel and jet fuel are shipped as finished products Tr. p. 95, line 25-p. 96, line 4; R. p. 1536.

Colonial's operations in South Carolina are comprised of 515 miles of pipeline, two tank farms, three main line booster stations, and one delivery facility spanning eleven counties in the State. Tr. p. 98, line 19-p. 99, line 22; R. p. 1539. Colonial has two main pipelines in South Carolina, Line 1 and Line 2, which were built in 1962 and the late 1970s respectively. Lines 1 and Line 2 are 40-inch pipelines, which run from Pasadena, Texas, to Greensboro, North Carolina. Tr. p. 101, lines 20-21; R. p. 1542. Of the 515 pipeline miles in the State, 203 miles are mainline miles (Lines 1 & 2), 74 are stub line miles (Line 29), 15 miles are delivery lines, and 96 miles are currently out of service. Line 1 transports gasoline, and Line 2 transports distillate, which includes jet fuel and ultra-low sulfur diesel. The pipelines are all three to six feet underground except where they come to pump stations and tank farms. Findings of Fact, pp. 5-6; Tr. p. 98, line 11-p. 102,

line 22; R. pp. 1539-43.

Colonial ships over 255 million barrels<sup>1</sup> of product per day nationally of which 185,000 barrels per day are delivered into South Carolina for distribution within the state. Findings of Fact, pp. 5-6; R. p. 0085-86. It ships both fungible and segregated product. In a segregated shipment (which is more expensive and limited to the transportation of blendstocks), the shipper gets the exact same molecules of the product at the end of the line that the shipper put into the pipeline at injection. However, the great majority of the products Colonial receives are moved together “fungibly,” meaning similar products are interchangeable and a customer may not receive the exact same product that it injected into the pipeline. For example, a shipper that ships regular gasoline through Colonial’s pipeline will receive regular gasoline at their destination, but will not necessarily receive the exact same molecules they put into the pipeline. Further, Colonial transports multiple products back-to-back through the pipe, which results in some mixing of the products where they interface. When different products mix in the pipeline, the result is called “transmix.” As the Company’s website states, “when products with incompatible characteristics come in contact with each other, the resulting interface is defined as transmix. Transmix is stored separately and re-processed into a useful product.” Tr. p. 127, lines 14-19; R. p. 1568. Transmix does not meet the Refined Petroleum Product specifications for a product that can be sold for use. Therefore, it first must be isolated and then disposed of by either selling it or injecting it back into the system in small enough quantities that its presence in delivered product is within that products specifications. Stipulation Nos. 3 and 4; Findings of Fact, p. 6; R. pp. 0082, 0086. Lines 1 and 2 produce 15,000-16,000 gallons of transmix every 5 days. Tr. p. 130, line 8-p. 131, line 18; R. p. 1572-73.

---

<sup>1</sup> One barrel contains 42 gallons, which means Colonial ships just under 8 million gallons of Refined Petroleum Products into South Carolina per day.

However, Colonial processes transmix into a once-again saleable Refined Petroleum Product. This is a very controlled process by which Colonial isolates the product and then blends it into a sellable product. Although the mixing occurs in the pipeline, the reengineering of the transmix to produce a sellable product occurs primarily at tank farms, pump stations, and delivery facilities. Findings of Fact, p. 6; Tr. p. 149, lines 3 - 16; R. pp. 0086, 1590 .

The amount of the transmix created is a function of (1) the size of the pipeline; (2) the length of the pipeline; (3) the number of pump stations; and (4) the product being shipped. Line 1 generates 15,000 barrels of transmix per five-day day shipment; Line 2 generates 10,000-15,000 barrels per shipment; and Line 29 generates 500 barrels per shipment. Tr. p. 131, line 21-p. 132, line 10; R. pp. 1572-73.

Colonial has to first identify the transmix, which it does through optical interface detectors as well as gravity, temperature and pressure testing. Tr. p. 137, line 12-p. 145, line 18; R. pp. 1578-86. It then has to isolate it by pumping it into tanks at all of its facilities. Tr. p. 147, line 5-p. 148, line 7; R. pp. 1588-89. Colonial has 3 options with the transmix: (1) leave it in the line (e.g. a small amount of premium gas into regular gas); (2) sell it to transmix processors; or (3) carefully inject it back into the line. Tr. p. 148, line 10-p. 150, line 14; R. pp. 1588-90.

Colonial also has to manage the movement of product through its pipeline. To accomplish this task, in South Carolina Colonial adds over a million gallons of Drag Reducing Agents (DRA) to the product, Tr. p. 156, lines 6-7; R. p. 1597, as it is transported, which reduces the amount of friction loss. Stipulation No. 2. DRA is added at the pump stations and on Colonial's line 29. In South Carolina, DRA is injected into the pipeline from multiple additive tanks with injection pumps and measuring equipment. Findings of Fact, p. 7; Tr. p. 151, line 20-p. 152, line 5; R. pp. 1592-93. Colonial must also remove water that accumulates in and around the transported product

through a process called “sting.” Colonial filters and removes “sting water” daily at the Belton and Spartanburg facilities through the use of oil and water separators, puts it into sting tanks, and disposes of it. Tr. p. 156, line 20-p. 158, line 19; R. pp. 1597-99. Colonial also regrades fuel in this State. “Regrade” is a process by which Colonial “change[s] a label of the product, the product’s grade.” Examples include regrading regular or premium gasoline. Tr. p. 188, line 9-p. 189, line 12; R. pp. 1629-30.

Every 50 to 60 miles along its mainlines, Colonial operates a booster station that increases pressure in the pipeline system and allows for the movement of petroleum through the pipeline. Tr. p. 108, lines 22-25; R. p. 1549. Each booster station has 15-20,000 horsepower pumps, together with three to four 5,000 horsepower pumps in order to push the petroleum product down the line. Tr. p. 108, line 22-p. 109, line 15; R. pp. 1549-50.

To ensure safety and quality control, Colonial constantly measures gravity, pressure, and temperature of the products it transports. Tr. p. 141, lines 8-18; R. p. 1582. Equipment is also used to measure and detect leaks. Tr. p. 108, lines 22-25; R. p. 1549. Additionally, there are three pump stations in South Carolina on Lines 1 and 2, typically with four to five pumps per station, and there are pumps at the tank farms. Findings of Fact, p. 7; R. p. 87.

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